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structures
objects
4 0 Total

number of contributing resources previously
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7. Description
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Narrative Description
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foundation STONE

walls BRICK

roof METAL

other WOOD, CONCRETE
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SUMMARY DESCRIPTION

Mount Vernon Mill No. 1, constructed serially between 1873 and 1918, is a complex of four buildings situated
along Jones Falls in Baltimore, Maryland. The complex consists of three closely associated 19"-century buildings
on the east side of Jones Falls and a 20th century warehouse on the west side of Jones Falls. Structures include a
large, three-story brick Mill Building (1873) constructed above a stone basement; a two-story, brick, L-shaped
Picker House (1873); a two-story, brick Store House (c. 1881); and a later, reinforced-concrete warehouse (1918).
The Mill Building is the largest and most important building in the complex. No machinery dating to Mount
Vernon Mill use remains. Typical of mill buildings in continuous use, the Mill Building has been altered over the
years. Its monitor, north stair tower, and Mansart roof over the south stair tower have been removed and most
window openings have been infilled with brick or concrete block. With the exception of the north stair tower,
which was removed for a loading dock addition, these changes are reversible and do not affect the overall integrity
of the resource.

ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION

Mount Vernon Mill No. 1, constructed serially between 1873 and 1918, is a complex of four buildings situated
along Jones Falls in Baltimore, Maryland. The complex is the southernmost mill complex of a series of 19th
century textile mills constructed in the Jones Falls valley in Hampden, a neighborhood comprised of mill villages.
Mount Vernon Mill No. 1 is located on the east side of Jones Falls on a narrow site circumscribed by Jones Falls
and Falls Road, which follows the contours of the steeply sloping Jones Falls valley and winds around the east and
south sides of the Mill Building and Picker House. (The 1918 Warehouse is situated on the west side of Jones
Falls; the Store House across Falls Road to the south of the Mill Building.)! The old Penn Central tracks, now
used for Baltimore light rail, and the Jones Falls Expressway are located immediately west of the site on the west
side of Jones Falls. The remnant of an old raceway runs under the Mill Building. The 1918 Warehouse is sited on
the west side of Jones Falls between the Falls and the railroad tracks. This building, which follows the axis
established by the railroad tracks rather than the axis of the older buildings, is connected to the Mill Building by a
bridge connecting the 1st floor of the Mill Building with the 3rd floor of the 1918 Warehouse.

Within the Mount Vernon Mill No. 1 complex, the Mill Building dominates the site, occupying most of the
property. The L-shaped Picker House occupies the southwest corner of the site. The east and north walls of the
Picker House follow the contours of the southwest corner of the Mill Building. A bridge, now gone, once
connected the north end of the Picker House with the south end of the Mill Building. Fire insurance maps and a c.
1925 historic photograph show that a stone retaining wall extended along the west side of the east bank of Jones
Falls; the west walls of both the former Boiler House and the Picker House appear to rise from this retaining wall.

A commemorative card documents the appearance of the complex in the late 19th century. The card, which depicts
a birds-eye view of the mill from the northwest, shows smoke-belching factories surrounded by trees. The twin
towers at the north and south ends of Mount Vernon Mill No. 1 are topped by dormered Mansart roofs. A finial

'While the axis of the mill runs northwest to southeast, to simplify description the axis has been shifted to north-south. Thus
the northwest facade becomes north; the northeast along Falls Road, east; the southeast, south; and the southwest along
Jones Falls, west.
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with a weather vane rises from the north tower, a flag pole from the south. The long Boiler House on the west side
of the building, replaced by the present Boiler House, is flanked by two huge stacks. A monitor extending almost
the entire length of the building supports an enormous sign bearing the legend, "MOUNT VERNON COTTON
DUCK MILLS."* Both the Picker House and the Store House can be seen in this view, which is not dated.

Mill Building (1873, 1881, early 20th c.)

The Mill Building is a 27 bay x 11 bay, cross-shaped, three-story brick building that rests on a full stone basement.
The basement is at ground level; the 1st floor, at the level of Falls Road. The building is topped with a shallow
gable roof. The long axis of the mill runs north-south, roughly parallel to Jones Falls on the west and Falls Road
on the east. A two-story Boiler House, constructed between 1914 and 1922, is attached to the west side of the
center of the main block of the building. A five story stair tower survives at the center of the south facade.
Entrances to the building are presently located in an early 20" c. stairtower adjacent to the cross gable on the east
side of the building.

The roughly cross-shaped configuration of the present Mill Building reflects the form of three building campaigns.
The original 1873 building, the southern portion of the mill, was roughly rectangular and extended to the north wall
of the three-bay cross-gable projecting from the east side of the building. In 1881, the building was extended 10
bays to the north during the second building campaign. The third building campaign encompassed early 20" ¢. work.
Some time after 1914, a small, two-story stair tower and entrance were added to the north of the cross-gabled section
facing Falls Road. Between 1914 and 1924, a four-bay addition housing a hoist and toilet rooms was added to the west
side of the building against the north wall of the Boiler House. All three major campaigns adopted the distinctive
architectural vocabulary of the 1873 building.?

The facades of the Mill Building are delineated by full-height brick piers demarcating the structural bays of the
building. Double piers articulate the corners. The piers rise to a corbelled brick cornice. The brick bond features
a row of headers every sixth course. The south tower is the most highly ornamented element of the building. A
projecting brick stringcourse decorated with honeycomb crosses runs between the corner piers at each floor level.
The circular window openings at the top of the tower feature brick surrounds embellished with four brick
keystones. Above the first floor, a marble panel bears the legend, "Mount Vernon Mills No. 1" and includes the
dates 1845 (the date the mill was established) and 1873 (the date the mill was constructed). Original window
openings, which remain on the south side of the stair tower and the west side of the rear wing of the mill, consist of
paired arched window surrounds with crossettes. A key consisting of a dogtooth topped by an incised cap, also
executed in wood, graces the top of the surround. Windows consist of 12-over-12 sash. A monitor roof that
extended the length of the building was removed some time after 1953. A fire escape with an ornate cast iron rail
is attached to the southern portion of the west wall of the building.

%A copy of this card may be found attached to Maryland Inventory of Historic Sites Survey Form B-62 at the Baltimore Museum
of Industry.

*While there is no known design source for Mount Vernon Mill No. 1, Ruben Gladfelter, a carpenter long-associated with the
Mount Vernon-Woodberry Mills may well have had a hand in the design, particularly the distinctive window frames.
The November 22 issue of The Mt. Vernon-Woodberry News states that "He [Gladfelter] had been connected with these
mills, he informed us, as far back as seventy years ago, and when Clipper Mill [1865] was built, as head carpenter, he
was in charge of construction."
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Subsequent 20" ¢. exterior alterations adapted the Mill Building to changes in the textile industry and transportation
requirements for raw materials and products. A late 20th century transformer room has been attached to the west
end of the south facade. A loading dock now extends north of the north facade and openings along the north end of
the east facade have been enlarged for loading bays. The most significant exterior change has been the removal of
window surrounds and the installation of brick infill and louvers in many of the window openings. This alteration
is directly associated with the conversion of Mount Vernon Mill to the production of synthetic fibers in the mid-
20th century. Requirements for controlled temperature and humidity resulted in this infill, which is typical of older
mill buildings still in operation in the late 20th century.

The open plan interior of the Mill Building also reveals the layers of construction on the site. The basement
appears to date to the Laurel Mill (1845), which burned in 1873. The basement has stone walls, some of which are
covered with stucco, and features fluted cast iron columns supporting wood beams. The structural system of the
building shows signs of 20th century alterations. There are blocks between columns and floor joists and large areas
of joists appear to have been reworked. While some changes undoubtedly date to floor infill in sections formerly
devoted to drive belts and fly wheels, other changes may date to replacement flooring installed in the early 20th
century in response to federal Workmen's Compensation legislation passed in June 1914. A company newsletter
from the period stated that existing pine floors were being replaced with maple to prevent injuries.*

None of the alterations impair the essential form and integrity of the mill. The relationship among buildings in the
complex and the relationship of the buildings to the Jones Falls Valley and mill village of Stone Hill; the overall
size, scale, and massing of the Mill Building itself; the distinctive roughly coursed stone foundation and corbelled
brick work; and remaining windows and detailing clearly convey the architectural character of Mount Vernon Mill
No. 1 and the scale of its operations.

Boiler House (c. 1920)

The present brick Boiler House, an irregularly shaped one-story addition attached to the west side of the Mill
Building, was constructed between 1914 and 1924.° The building is topped by a flat roof with a tile coping and is
lit by a gabled monitor. A square, tapered brick stack rises from the west side of the building, extending above the
roofline of the Mill Building. The 1st floor of the west side of the Boiler House facing Jones Falls and the base of
the south side of the Boiler House are faced with concrete. The Boiler House has paired 6-over-6 windows. The
openings have concrete sills and flat lintels comprised of headers. Loading bay doors are situated within the
projecting bay on the south side of the building near the Mill Building. While the interior of the Boiler House has
been completely altered with concrete block partitions and a steel structural system, the original stone basement
walls of the Mill Building can still be seen within.

“"Our Medical Work -- A Review" in Mt. Vernon- Woodberry News (Feb. 1921), p. 3. The article does not specify which mills
this change affected.

°A larger Boiler House extending further toward Jones Falls can be seen in the 1914 Sanborn Map. The present Boiler House is
visible in a 1924 photograph.
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Picker House (1873-1879)

The Picker House is a three-and-one-half story, ell-shaped, brick building comprised of a long, rectangular original
building constructed in 1873 and a smaller, square addition constructed in 1879. (These dates can be seen in stone
panels on the south facade facing Falls Road.) Falls Road is level with the 3rd floor of the south facade as the road
rises in a sharp right-angle turn around the southeastern corner of the site; the ground floor of the building is
visible only on the north and east facades. The foundation of the 1873 section is coursed stone; the foundation of
the 1879 section is brick with a projecting watertable. The Picker House is topped by parallel gable roofs, clad in
galvanized metal, one over each section of the ell. Originally connected to the Mill Building by a bridge (now
gone) at the north end of the east facade of the 1873 section, the Picker House incorporates the corbelled cornices
and pilasters distinguishing the brickwork of the Mill Building. Openings are framed by segmental arches of
stretcher brick and granite sills. Most of the metal fire shutters are closed; some 9-over-9 sash is visible on the east
facade. The Picker House also incorporates distinctive small round-arched openings that once held gas lights.
These openings, which once had steel shutters, are now infilled with brick. Entrances are presently located on the
east and south facades of the building. The entrance on the east facade is at the 2nd floor level. A large opening
on the east facade above the entrance, probably associated with an exterior elevator (now gone) shown in the 1953
Sanborn Map, has been infilled with brick. A massive dust flue that obscured most of the north facade of the 1873
section was removed some time after 1953. Nevertheless, the distinctive form of the Picker House and its
relationship to the Mill Building can still be clearly read despite changes to the grade of Jones Falls Road and these
minor alterations.

Store House No. 1 (c. 1881)

The Store House is a c. 1881 three-story, rectangular, brick building with a shallow gable roof situated across Falls
Road south of the Mill Building. A large, shed-roofed element, presumably housing a hoist overrun, projects from
the roof over the north end of the building. Sanborn Maps show that the building, which originally housed only a
basement and two floors, had an additional floor inserted between 1914 and 1953. The Store House is simpler and
more utilitarian in architectural character than the Mill Building or the Picker House. Remnants of a stepped brick
watertable are visible at the east end of the north facade. A corbelled brick cornice runs below the corrugated tin
roof; widely spaced wood brackets support gutters. The building was constructed with minimal openings; later
openings have been punched into the walls, especially on the south facade, which is not visible from the street.
Original openings have stone sills and are topped by brick segmental arches. Like the Picker House, the Store House
features small arched openings that would have been used to house gas lamps. Entrances are situated on the north and
south facades of the building. There is a loading bay with a canopy above the entrance on the north, which appears to be
the only original entrance to the building. This loading bay corresponds with the location of a freight elevator on the
interior of the building. The interior of the building consists of open plan space with wood posts supporting massive
timber beams.

1918 Warehouse

The 1918 Warehouse, a four-story rectangular reinforced concrete structure that appears to have housed storage for
finished goods, is situated along the former Penn Central railroad tracks on the west side of Jones Falls. The Jones
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Falls Expressway (Interstate 83), the Mill Building, and foliage along Jones Falls limit visibility of the warehouse,
which was oriented to the Mill Building and railroad tracks rather than to any roadway. The 1918 Warehouse is
accessed from a pedestrian bridge that connects the top level of the warehouse to the first floor of the Mill Building
and from a loading dock facing the Penn Central tracks along the west side of the building. Constructed partially
on brick piers over Jones Falls, the building is topped by a flat roof and has 6-light steel hopper windows. Many
windows along the east and south facades have been blocked. Unlike the three older buildings, this non-descript,
utilitarian building has no ornamentation and little architectural character. The interior of the building incorporates
four levels with low floor-to-floor height. The exposed structural system consists of squat round and octagonal
-columns supporting reinforced concrete floors. A hoist and fire stair are situated on the east side of the building
adjacent to the bridge to the Mill Building.
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SUMMARY SIGNIFICANCE

Constructed from 1873 to 1918, Mount Vernon Mill No. 1 is the southernmost surviving textile mill along
Jones Falls. Part of a group of textile mills built by Horatio Gambrill, David Carroll, and William Hooper,
along with Mount Vernon Mill No. 3, it served as headquarters for Mount Vernon-Woodberry Mills, one of
the world's largest producers of cotton duck. The mill complex meets National Register Criterion A because
of the significant role that it played in the development of Baltimore's textile industry. Mount Vernon Mill
No. 1 also meets National Register Criterion C because it exemplifies locally important changes in mill
construction during the 1870s and 1880s, namely a marked expansion in size and scale and a consequent shift
from stone to brick buildings. The period of significance for the complex extends from 1873, the date the
present Mount Vernon Mill No. 1 was constructed, to 1923, the year of a bitter strike that marked the end of
an era for Baltimore's textile industry.

HISTORY

Mount Vernon Mill No. 1 originated in the transition from grist mills to cotton mills along Jones Falls in the
early 19th century. In 1808 a consortium of investors constructed the Union Mill along the Patapsco in
Oella. Other mills soon followed on the Gunpowder River, Gwynn's Falls, and Jones Falls. The first
building to occupy the site of Mount Vernon Mill No. 1 was the Laurel Flouring Mill, erected by Hugh
Jenkins in 1845." Flour milling, however, was soon superseded by textile production. Thwarted by Thomas
Jefferson's embargo on American exports, Baltimore's merchants and shippers turned their attention to
domestic markets, investing their capital in the emerging textile im:lustry.2 Baltimore's thriving ship building
and ship repair industry offered a ready market for cotton duck, used for sails. By 1810, the United States
boasted 87 cotton mills, eleven of which were situated in or near Baltimore. The area proved attractive,
because its numerous streams emptying into the Chesapeake Bay offered cheap power and easy
transportation.

In 1815 the Washington Manufacturing Company purchased the ca. 1810 Mount Washington Flour Mill,
converting it into the first cotton mill in the area. Like other early mills, this water-powered mill was
designed to convert raw cotton into yarn.’ In 1832, David Carroll and Horatio Gambrill, two entrepreneurs
who spearheaded the development of textile production in the Jones Falls Valley, jointly purchased the
Mount Washington Mill. In 1839, they acquired the nearby Whitehall Flouring Mill and retooled it to
manufacture textiles. Because yarn production could not keep pace with the weaving output, in 1842 they

IBill Harvey, The People Is Grass, p. 6-7.

Robert Brugger, Maryland, A Middle Temperament, p. 177.

3l\liarylzmﬂ Historical Trust Inventory Form for State Historic Site Surveys, completed for Mt. Vernon Mill No. 1,
prepared by Dennis Zembala and Anne Steele, 1980, Vertical Files, Baltimore Museum of Industry (BMI), sec.
8, p. 1.
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purchased the Woodberry Flouring Mill and converted it inio a yarn spinning mill. When water power failed
in 1845, the two men switched to steam, doubling the capacity of Woodberry Mill. Then in 1847, they
bought the Laurel Flouring Mill, which was turned into a cotton mill and renamed Mount Vernon Mill No.
1.* A writer for the Baltimore Sun described the newly transformed building and its operations in glowing
terms:

Mount Vernon is...one mile this side of Woodbury; it is also propelled by water power, aided
by a steam engine, from the same patterns as the one at Woodbury. The building is large and
commodious, being 5 stories in height; different kinds of fabrics are here manufactured — such
as muslins and a lighter kind of duck, but the proprietors are adding heavy duck loom . . .the
lower story being still vacant. e

On June 20, 1873 the first Mount Vernon Mill burned to the ground. Carroll and Gambrill immediately
rebuilt the present larger, brick mill over the foundations of the older mill and constructed the Picker House
southwest of the Mill Building. The new Mount Vernon Mill No. 1, built as a textile mill, epitomized the
change in scale and materials found along Jones Falls in the latter part of the 19th century. Although
constructed along the remnant of an earlier raceway, Mount Vernon Mill No. 1 was steam powered.

In December 1874 Edward Leonard, Civil Engineer and Insurance Surveyor, filed a lengthy report describing
the first stage of development of the present Mount Vernon Mill No. 1. Leonard wrote that Mount Vernon
Mill No. 1, which produced "cotton, duck, twine &c." was "remarkable for cleanness and strict observance
of its rules."® Managed by one of the proprietors, the mill was in operation 66 hours/week.

Leonard recorded that the southern section of the present Mill Building, which was constructed over a stone
foundation, was three stories high with exterior measurements of 200 ft. x 126 ft. Walls were three to four
ft. thick. The basement level was subdivided into four sections; upper floors were open plan space. The
cloth office, engine room, and storage for stock and "old iron" occupied the basement. The steam engine's
fly wheel penetrated the 1st floor. Two of the four basement sections were unfinished. The 1st floor housed
carders, drawers, slubbers, and speeders; the 2nd floor, weaving, beaming, and warping. The manager's
office, no longer extant, was also located on the 2nd floor. Drive belts and pullies encased in iron extended
from the 1st to the 2nd floor. Spinning, spooling, and twisting took place on the 3rd floor, which was lit by

‘James G. Bullock, "A Brief History of the Textile Manufacturing Mills along Jones Falls," (Baltimore, 1971), p. 5-6
and Phillip Kahn, Jr. A Sritch in Time, p. 16.

*Harvey, The People Is Grass, p. 11.

Edward Leonard, "Plans, Sections, and Report of Mt. Vernon Cotton Mill, No. 1," n.p. Attention to cleanliness continued
into the 20th century. A worker familiar with the mill in the years following World War II recalled, "I was fascinated
how clean it was for a textile plant. They kept the place immaculate." (Hollyday, Stone Hill, p. 47.)
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a 178 ft. long "ventilator" [roof monitor], now gone. Support functions such as the machine shop, carpenter
shop, and blacksmith shop that could pose fire hazards were located at Mill No. 8 some 200 ft. away.7

The Mill Building boasted three "elevators.” One went from the basement to the 2nd floor, one from the 1st
to the 3rd floor, and one from the 2nd to the 3rd floor. None penetrated all four floors, enhancing fire
separation between floors. The Mill Building's only stair was isolated in the south tower. Leonard reported
that the stair led to a "French roof, which forms a neat observatory and is plastered and plaster ceiled."”
Other fire precautions included standpipes, at least nine sets of hoses with a combined length of 1100 ft. of
hose, fire buckets, and watchmen.

Leonard also described the 1873 Picker House, which was connected to Mount Vernon Mill by a bridge.
Cotton bales were stored in the basement. As an additional fire prevention measure, the Picker House was lit
by glass-enclosed gas lights set in small openings in the exterior walls and lit from platforms on the outside
of the building. Hoses could be threaded through these small openings in the event of fire. Picker Houses
typically functioned to prepare raw cotton for the spinning process.s Bales of cotton, transferred to the
Picker House from the Store House, were broken apart and machines removed impurities from the raw
material. The picked cotton then was put through cards to untangle and align the fibers to prepare them for
spinning.

In 1879 the Picker House was enlarged by the construction of a square, gabled section attached to the south
end of the east facade of the building.” (The 1914 Sanborn Map depicts the later section used for "waste
pickers" and "waste storage;" the earlier section housed a "dust room" in its basement.) In 1881, a three-
story addition, measuring 170 ft. x 55 ft., was constructed on the northern end of the Mount Vernon Mill
along with a separate "packing house" measuring 80 ft. x 40 ft. ' The "packing house" is most likely Store
House No. 1 since these dimensions describe the footprint and approximate size of the Store House. " (The
1914 Sanborn Map notes that burlap and machinery were housed in the basement, cotton on the 1st floor, and
finished goods on the 2nd floor.) According to Baltimore chronicler Thomas Scharf, the Mount Vernon
Manufacturing Company mills then provided "cotton duck and felting, the latter being used in making
paper.” The new addition increased the company's total employment to 1,600. 12

"Edward Leonard, "Plans, Sections, and Report of Mt. Vernon Cotton Mill, No. 1," n.p.

*The initial part of the Picker House description in the facsimile copy of Leonard's report is virtually illegible.

®Date stone on south facade.

19" Mount Vernon Mills," in "Mills and Mill Work—Baltimore—Mt. Vernon," Vertical Files, BMI.

"The size of structural members within the Store House suggest that it was designed specifically to house the heavy floor
loads dense cotton bales created.

2Quoted in Maryland Historical Trust Inventory Form for State Historic Site Surveys, completed for Mt. Vernon Mill
No. 1, sec. 8, p. 2.
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The Mount Vernon Mill complex exemplifies the second phase of mill construction along the Jones Falls
Valley. Earlier mills such as Mount Washington Mill (1810), the earliest section of Woodberry Mill (1843),
and Park Mill (1855) were typically constructed of stone and were smaller in size and scale than the first
phase of Mount Vernon Mill No. 1. Many of the earlier operations adapted structures designed to house
flour mills rather than construct new buildings specifically designed to house spinning and textile production.
The first generation of mills depended on Jones Falls for their source of power, although Park Mill's boiler
house demonstrated that Jones Falls supplied inadequate power for even pre-Civil War demand. Druid Mill,
constructed by Horatio Gambrill as a textile mill in 1866, was a transitional structure. The largest stone mill
in Maryland, it was the last stone mill to be constructed along Jones Falls and relied entirely on steam as a
source of power."

Later mills like the Clipper Mill (1865), Mount Vernon Mill No. 1 (1873), and Meadow Mill (1877)
displayed a different typology dictated by the specific needs of textile production. Increasing demand for
textiles, improved technology and power sources, and the increasing capital available to meet growing market
demand resulted in a corresponding increase in the size of mills. Purpose-built textile mills required fire-
proof construction and structures that could withstand the vibrations caused by the looms. While experts
considered stone an appropriate material for foundations, brick was clearly the first choice for mill construction.
Brick walls facilitated larger buildings that could be easily expanded in modular fashion to increase production.
Building in brick afforded better quality control during construction, especially in the detailing of structural joints —
a critical element in a structural system designed to withstand vibration. Fire separation was also important. Stair
towers were to be held separate from buildings to retard the spread of fire between floors. Separate buildings
devoted to specialized functions isolated high risk activities and allowed structural systems to be tailored to specific
load demands. For example, the density of cotton bales produced a load three times greater than the load created
by textile machinery."*

Mount Vernon Mill No. 1 is typical of steam-powered mills built after the Civil War. Its brick construction and
modular articulation permitted the building to be easily expanded, as indeed it was in 1881 and again in the early
20th century. Its distinctive stair tower, small-paned windows, structural bays articulated by pilasters, and
structural system comprised of heavy timber beams supported by cast iron columns were important features of
textile mill typology. Secondary buildings also incorporated important architectural characteristics displayed by
textile mills of the period. The Store House featured heavy timber construction that could support loads posed by
cotton bales; the Picker House isolated activities like unbaling and cleaning cotton, processes that generated dust
and carried a high risk of fire.

“Dennis M. Zembala, ed., Baltimore: Industrial Gateway on the Chesapeake Bay, pp. 102-105.

YCharles T. Main's Notes on Mill Construction (1886), written by the assistant superintendent of the Lower Pacific Mills
for mechanical engineering students, provides an excellent discussion of the technical requirements of textile
mills of the period.
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By the date of the 1914 Sanborn Map, Mount Vernon Mill had essentially achieved its present form.
Although the reinforced concrete warehouse across Jones Falls was not constructed until 1918, all of the
other functional areas of the mill were in place. The 1914 map details how the enlarged Mill Building was
used. As in 1874, the engine room was in the basement, carding on the 1st floor, weaving on the 2nd, and

spinning on the 3rd. The expansion of the Mill Building, however, permitted multiple activities to take place

on each floor. By 1914 weaving took place on all floors, including the basement; warp rooms were located
in both the basement and the 3rd floor. Fly frames were situated on the 1st floor, along with the carding
process. The only functional change to the 2nd floor appears to have been the relocation of the Cloth Room
from the basement; the 3rd floor continued to house "ring spinning, spooling, and twisting. "

Later interviews further illuminate operations at Mount Vernon Mill No. 1.

Raw cotton came to Mt. Vernon Mill No. 1, to the "opening room." There the cotton was put
in the picker, which rolled it up. Then it went to a carder --a two-ton, big wheel with a wire
on it, turning real fast. It came out in a roll about two inches in diameter -- in a can. Then it
went to the twisters, which twisted it down small; then to the spinners, which made smaller
yarn. Then they ply it together: two-ply, seven-ply, just like the thread you buy. From there
it went to the slasher room -- to be on the warp.... Later, everything changed from hand
looms to automatic. We made mail bags, lamp wicks, and so on.”

Mount Vernon Mills operated under a paternalistic system characteristic of American textile mills. The
owners adopted the "Rhode Island System," which recruited and employed entire families, in contrast to
recruiting single workers housed in boarding houses. During the 1840s and 1850s, David Carroll and
Horatio Gambrill built several dozen stone duplex residential units for their workers on a hill overlooking
Mount Vernon Mill No. 1."® Known as Stone Hill because of the stone houses, the village of workers
housing soon formed the nucleus of the Hampden neighborhood. At the time the first stone houses were
constructed, the Jones Falls valley consisted of a few small hamlets clustered around individual mills. As
late as 1860, the combined workforce of all the area's textile mills totaled only 536.'” Employment in the
industry leaped from 616 in 1870 to 2,931 in 1880." Gradually the area took the form of an industrial mill
town.'

"SGuy Hollyday, ed. Stone Hill: The People and Their Stories, p. 43
'*Maryland Historical Trust Inventory Form for State Historic Site Surveys, completed for Mt. Vernon Mill No. 1,

p- 15.
”Harvey, The People Is Grass, p. 7.
"Ibid., p. 17.

YBeirne, "Hampden-Woodberry," p. 10.

b2
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David Carroll and his son, Albert Carroll, epitomized the paternalist management style that permitted mill
owners to exercise enormous control over the lives of their employees. The Carrolls closely monitored
operations at Mount Vernon Mill No. 1 from their spacious homes on a ridge above the mills (today the
Florence Crittenton Home and the Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals). In addition to workers
housing, they constructed the Mount Vernon M.E. Church, the Hampden Hall Community Center, the
Hampden Library, and a boarding house for single women.”’

By the 1890s, the mills along Jones Falls were operating at their peak. The symbiotic nature of Baltimore's
industrial development continued to fuel the growth of the Jones Falls textile mills. As the downtown needle
trades, "the largest generators and users of capital in the city," expanded their production, the number of
looms in the region increased as well.2! With almost 4,000 workers, Baltimore's textile mills constituted a
substantial employer.n One reason for Baltimore's dominance was the relatively low cost of non-union labor
due to Baltimore's relative proximity to poor, rural areas. (Most of the mills' workers came from rural
Maryland, Virginia and North Carolina.)” Although the mills also produced other cotton products, such as
rope, net2t4H1g, mops and "shoddy" (leftovers for pillows and mattresses), duck was still the most important
product.

Efforts to consolidate textile operations along Jones Falls finally came to fruition in the late 1890s. In 1898
seven companies joined together to form the Mount Vernon-Woodberry Cotton Duck Company, creating a
virtual monopoly for cotton duck.” Nine of the fourteen mills operated by the new company, including
Mount Vernon Mill No. 1, were located along Jones Falls. In 1915, another major reorganization occurred,
and the company adopted the new name of Mount Vernon-Woodberry Mills.

World War I, as other wars, generated extensive government work for textile mills. Uniforms, knapsacks,
tents, and parachutes all required cotton fabric.”® The last building constructed at Mount Vernon Mill No. 1,
a reinforced concrete warehouse adjacent to the Penn Central railroad tracks and across Jones Falls from the
Mill Building, was completed in 1918.”” World War I also transformed the attitudes of the Hampden-
Woodberry labor force. The war time boom yielded more jobs, increased hours, and significantly higher

20l:'hjllip Kahn, Jr., A Stitch in Time, p. 68n.

#'Phillip Kahn, Jr. A Stitch in Time, p. 67.

ZHarvey, "Hampden-Woodberry," p. 43.

Karen Lewand, "North Baltimore: From Real Estate to Development,” in D. Randall Beirne, ed., Baltimore
Neighborhoods: A Community Fact Book, (Baltimore: Baltimore City Department of Planning and the
University of Baltimore, 1989), p. 67.

*Harvey, The People Is Grass, p. 45.

»Bill Harvey, "Hampden-Woodbery: Baltimore's Mill Villages," in Elizabeth Fee, Linda Shopes and Linda Zeidman,
eds., The Baltimore Book: New Views of Local History, (Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 1991), p. 43.

**Harvey, The People Is Grass, p. 45.

*"The 1953 Sanborn Map has the date of the building's construction.
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wages. After World War I demand slackened but the expectations of an expanded work force remained. In
April 1923 Mount Vernon-Woodberry Mills announced a 54 hour work week and a 7.5% increase in pay;
workers demanded a 48 hour week and a 25% increase in pay. When the company refused, a bitter strike
lasting many months ensued. The 1923 strike marked a watershed in the history of the Mount Vernon-
Woodberry Mills. It resulted in the end of the paternalistic system that governed mill operations and the end
of an era of general prosperity and expansion of the textile industry in Baltimore. While owners had offered
concessions in the earlier years, they now became intransigent. Management broke the strike by refusing to
recognize the United Textile Workers, refusing to meet with a committee of workers, businessmen, and
clergy formed by Mayor Howard Jackson, and evicting strike leaders from company housing. By 1925 they
began selling off company housing. Three mill buildings were sold and operations were moved to Alabama
and South Carolina, areas so poor that unions could never obtain a foothold.*®

Textile manufacturing dropped off precipitously during the Depression. After 1939, when the U.S. began
arming itself and its allies, orders for war materials revived production. By 1940, the Mount Vernon-
Woodberry Mills were inundated with requests for almost one and half million packs and parachutes, as well
as a million tents. In 1942, the mills began operating three shifts a day, seven days a week.” Because
wartime industries like shipbuilding paid higher wages, the mills had difficulty attracting workers. Asa
result, the company began to employ more women and older workers. For the first time, they also began to
recruit local African Americans.”’ The wartime revival proved short-lived. Particularly after the Korean
War, Baltimore's textile industry entered another period of sharp decline exacerbated by the introduction of
synthetic fibers and the lure of the non-union workforce in southern states. Mount Vernon Mill No. 1 was
among the first mills to be converted for synthetic production.3 .

When Dacron first came out, we were one of the first to use it for sailboats — it repels water
and is light. In the 1950s we made upholstering for Cadillacs. For at least ten years we had a
steady order for ten thousand yards for tablecloths for California. We had one million yards in

32
storage.

ZBill Harvey, "Hampden-Woodberry" in The Baltimore Book, pp. 46-49. The strike was so traumatic that residents
literally erased it from memory. Interviews with over 250 people yielded only fragmentary first hand
recollection; no one was willing to talk extensively on tape.

P Article from the Baltimore Sun, (March 17, 1942), Vertical Files, BMI.

*Randall Beirne, "Hampden-Woodberry: The Mill Village in an Urban Setting," Maryland Historical Magazine,
77(Spring 1982): 22-23.

313 T. Ward, "Meadow and Mt. Vernon Mills Join Trend in Processing of Synthetics," Baltimore Sun, June 24, 1948,
Vertical Files, BMI.

*Guy Hollyday, Stone Hill, p. 43. Workers recalled that "we were one of the first mills that tried to weave polyester and

polypropylene." (p. 43)
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By 1971, most of the mills along Jones Falls had closed: only the yarn unit in Mount Vernon Mill No. 1,
which produced synthetic novelty yarns, and the cloth unit in Mount Vernon Mill No. 3 continued to operate.
Together, they employed a total of 299 workers.” In 1972, the company announced that it would close the
plants and liquidate all of its real estate holdings in the Jones Falls valley. Although the buildings remained
in "excellent shape," officials claimed that new manufacturing methods had rendered multi-story textile
buildings obsolete, and the lure of cheaper labor drew them south. ™

The period of significance, 1873-1945, encompasses the period between the initial
construction of the mill and the end of World War II.

3Bullock, "A Brief History of Textile Mills along Jones Falls," pp. 11-12.
*Textile Firm to Sell Plants," Baltimore Sun, (May 21, 1972), Vertical Files, BMI.



NPS Form 10-800-a OMB Approval Ne. 1024-0018

[L.E-1.1]

B-67
United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

-National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number _9 Page 1

9. BIBLIOGRAPHY

Baltimore Sun (March 17, 1942). Vertical Files, Baltimore Museum of Industry [BMI].

Beirne, Randall D. "Hampden-Woodberry: The Mill Village in an Urban Setting," Maryland Historical
Magazine, 77 (March 1982): 6-26.

Brugger, Robert J. Maryland, A Middle Temperament. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press,
1988.

Bullock, James G, Jr. "A Brief History of Textile Manufacturing Mills along Jones Falls," 2™ ed. Baltimore:
Mt. Vernon Mills, November 1971.

Harvey, Bill. "Hampden-Woodberry: Baltimore's Mill Villages," in Elizabeth Fee, Linda Shopes and Linda
Zeidman, eds., The Baltimore Book: New Views of Local History. Philadelphia: Temple University
Press, 1991. Pp. 38-55.

. "The People Is Grass:" A History of Hampden-Woodberry, 1802-1945. Baltimore: Bella Press,
1988.

Hollyday, Guy, ed. “Stone Hill: The People and Their Stories.” Baltimore: Guy Hollyday, 1994.

Kahn, Philip, Jr. A Stitch in Time: The Four Seasons of Baltimore's Needle Trades. Baltimore: Maryland
Historical Society, 1989.

Leonard, Edward. “Plans, Sections and Report of Mt. Vernon Cotton Mill, No. 1. 1874. Vertical Files,
BMLI.

Lewand, Karen. North Baltimore: From Estate to Development, from the series Baltimore Neighborhoods:
A Community Fact Book, ed. Randall Beirne. Baltimore: Baltimore City Department of Planning and
the University of Baltimore, 1989.

Main, Charles T. Notes on Mill Construction. Boston: Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 1886.

Maryland Historical Trust Inventory Form for Mount Vernon Mill No. 1. Dennis Zembala and Anne Steele,
preparers. 1980.

“Mills and Mill Work—Baltimore—Mt. Vernon.” Vertical Files, BMI.



NPS Form 10-800-a OMB Approval No. 1024-0018

18-86)
United States Department of the Interior §-62

National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number _9 Page 2

Olson, Sherry H. Baltimore: The Building of an American City. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University
Press, 1980.

Sanborn Map Company. Maps of Baltimore. 1953.

“Textile Firm to Sell Plants.” Baltimore Sun (May 21, 1972). Vertical Files, BML.

Vertical Files. Commission on Architectural and Historic Preservation Archives. Baltimore, Maryland.
Vertical Files. Enoch Pratt Free Library, Main Branch, Maryland Room. Baltimore, Maryland.
Vertical Files. Maryland Historical Society, Baltimore, Maryland.

Vertical Files. Baltimore Museum of Industry Research Center. Baltimore, Maryland.

- Ward, J. T. “Meadow and Mt. Vernon Mills Join Trend in Processing of Synthetics.” Baltimore Sun (June
24, 1948). Vertical Files, BML

Zembala, Dennis M. Baltimore: Industrial Gateway on the Chesapeake Bay. Baltimore: Baltimore Museum
of Industry, 1995.



®-88) ' s
United States Department of the Interior ¢
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet

Section number _10 Page 1

10. GEOGRAHICAL DATA

Verbal Boundary Description

The Mount Vernon Mill No. 1 occupies an irregular oblong-shaped group of four lots between Falls Road on the
northeast and the M.T.A. Light Rail right-of-way on the southwest, with adjacent property lines forming the
northwestern and southeastern boundaries. The four lots are Ward 13, Section 12, Block 3500, Lots number 1
(Mill); 1A (Picker House); 7 (Store House); and 3 (1918 Building). Jones Falls bisects the property and Lot 7 lies
east of Falls Road.

Falls Road forms the northeastern boundary of the property. The northwestern boundary is formed by a property
line set 29 ft from Falls Road, where the boundary crosses Jones Falls and is continued by the Falls itself for
approximately 300 ft. The southwestern boundary of the property is formed by the M.T.A. Light Rail right-of-
way. The irregular southeastern boundary is formed by a property line set 118 ft. east of the M.T.A. Right-of-way,
at which point the boundary crosses Jones Falls again; the boundary continues along Jones Falls 291 ft. to the south,
where the boundary is set back 104 ft. from Falls Road; the boundary continues along Falls Road approximately 300
ft. where it crosses the road to encompass the Store House. The Store House property is bordered on the south by a
property line set back 65 ft. from Falls Road; on the southeast by a property line set back 163 ft. from Pacific
Street; on the northeast by Pacific Street; and on the northwest by a property line set back from Falls Road 55 ft.

Boundary Justification

The boundary corresponds with the legal description of the property and encompasses the full extent of the site of
Mount Vernon Mill No. 1.



N e
fole)
/—:Jj}\-/
TN -
-__,__'.__\‘- -
) 0=
- .f_:"’f!:.
} ks S —
/ A s

BE ="\, ~Hom& for the-hge
Zr ay TN

I "‘I A%\
1\‘.II " e

ey

o
()

"'-_"""-ﬂ

\
' ik Y
] \\\_-/ ) a8t | iy
) 'll AT i

i D

> ‘.1

T~

e

“WYMAN  PARK |\

!

AT 34 M. TOUS. |

4357

4356

B{'\\TD . W € ‘-‘:f @u oq

B-vz

2w MOUNT
VE KN R

MiLe N

PAaLTimo e
AT

s MARY LAND

12-359400

4253700

6.8 M

123 MIL

(BALTIMORE EAS

)

1
|
t
1
|
|
|
i\

5662 | SE






1 RBR-G2
MooNT VERNON Mzt Ne. 1

Rarramone Cxry, MaryLAND
Re™y Bred

FERRUARY 2000

Mh SHPO

CompPLEX FroM St Aceoss TONES FALLS
S673 -1 181838 PB3?

| oF ¥

s






R-61

Mouny UgrNon Mxi: Ne.l
Rary more Crvy MaryLanD
ReETTYy RIed

FeERRUARY L0000

ML SHEO

© shoerbe - My Burenrae § rom S
SO24NOR TB8293 P@4e

2. 0oF |B






E-61

Mouny VErNoN Mz Ne. 1
Bavramore Crvy MaryLanl
ReETy Bred |
FTERBRUARY 2000

MQ SHPO

E TACARE OF MTie BuT:DING FROM SE
4

2o0F (R




. ot b A/

r

all-HilE

= meﬂm hiﬁ‘ﬁ*\! 2
o= S T [ i TV R




E-¢gz

Mot VEeNay e Mo !
ZALrTmoRE CTry MERYLAND
e Raed

FEBRUARY 2200

MO CHPO

E it N FACANES ofF MTi. Burnhrwe From WE
5823 -1 1Bli5Z Fobl

d/ oOF /8






R-62
Mouny Vernov Moy Mo
Barremore CTry MARVLAWD

RETTY SIRb
YT ERRUARY 2000

MB SHPO

X _ ,
W saz@g?%s%z?ﬁ:zfvul'f'aw‘w”cﬁ R FACARF OF BaTirw

Housf ¥ icom Sty

E oF ¥






g-62

Mount Vernon M=l Mp 1
EroaationE (arvy MeRYLAND
gy <red

£ Reyeny 2000

MO SEPO

$823 42 106852 PO48

n) FACAQER OF MILLEWLLTANG AND RATLER HOUSE;
N ann ) FACADES OF RrckErn HOUSE From AW

Gof!%

2R






r-C2
Mount Usewony Mz No. 1

RALTIMmoRE Crry ManryLAnD
Revrry Bxed

FERRUARY 2000

M SHPO

SB23NOR 768964 Pe22
RoTiEr HOuSE, STACK, S FACADE oF W Sferren oF Mrw
Borinaang, E FACALME ofF (718 BuTbTwe FroM SE

forlf

B







R-672
Moynr VERNoN Mz /o 2
TprTa mone Crry MaryLand
RErry IRl
TERRUARY 2000
MYy SH*™O
$623 -2 188447 POZ?
T21ckER HoutE - South ant E4sy T ACADES FromM N

7 oF |¥

26






R-62

Moynt Vgrnoy Mz Mo d
2arvamore Crry, MARYLAND
ey Brud

TERBRUARY 2800

MO SHFO

§623 -2 TB1788 PESE

E AT SECTION OF TRITkER H#OUSE FRoM NF - UTFw OfF
T FACARE

For 18

B




TS

-
e
-

-
- 1B




B-€2

MovnT VERNON Mxyp No. 1
Ratrz moe Cary, MARYLAND
RETTY) BIRO

TonE 2000

MDD SHPO

STORE HOVSE Feom MW SHowzwc N AwD (204 S9Y00L 2+ 920S
u) YACADES

0 oF /¥






R-62 .
Movntr UEnrnon Mxer Mo 1 |

RALTEmore Crry, MaryLand

Rery Brald
T ERRUARY 2000

MD SHPO

SBZ3NOR TBB717 PB13

(/¥ BOTLDTANG From SE SHOWTHNG EAST FACADE

Il oF (8







B-62
MounT '/ETCMOP\J N.V: v [, :
“hrrmore CIvy, MARYLAND
RETTY BTRed

s

FErRUAZY 2000
L SAPO
$825 +1 188234 P44
PDE+ATL oF DRTE STONE AnT WiThDoy) Surefound - MITLL
R OoTLDT MG

2. OF fE



0 S
_ __.__“ i __..m.:._.

o T —— —
f T st rs

it ity 24-.._.-.—-..._.?
_.____"_“__m“"“

_.._ _.__H

Hi

P

._..._

1

i
:_ i

ﬂ___

.».

._...___ [V ERL AR SRR |

__“ i

H

...L_ L...T




wR-62
Mouny
ALt Morg Cery MeryrAND
ZETY BIed

FERBRUARY 2000

MO SHPO
$823 -1 Teeb5? PBIS
DevhrL of WIntows

12, oF I8

Ug rnon MTLL M. 1

AnD Cornace — MTie BoTeCTHG-




;.W _._,_aw__.e_




R-62
Movpr JERNON MTLL No. 1

RAtTTMORE Crry MARJLAND
PeTry e

FERRUAMRY 2000

Mh SHEPO

DETAIL oF EAMTRY DoorS ann CANOPY— &, ToweR- MIzc

$BZ3 -2 166748 PBS3 %ez NG
LDT

1L} oF /8



N Fm




R-€2
Movayr VErnen Mxee Mo 1

T Mol Ca 4 M AERYLAND

A
Ty S¥RU
¢ § FrudrYy 2000
M1, Sueg

S@Z4NOR TO0508 PB34
< YT RToRk Ay Mt ZuTe DI G

IS o€ @

BASEMEANT







B-62

Mounr Vermon Mz Mol
2arTmore vy, MARYLAND
BETHY Bxrd

SoNE 2.600

MD SHPO

Crorg HOUSE TNTERIOR
bEBd 899001 NONSZOS

£ oF (£






B-6872
Moont Uernon My Ko {

Bitrrore Gy, MARYLAUD

Re1rY Brey
¥ & RiRuAlzY 20600

$825 +1 108324 P829

T AT ERIOR OF

|2 oF '8

RoTri R HeoSE - T n

7 Eanm

)






1 B-62
Movny VErnon Mzer Mo. 1
RALTT ore Cxvy MARYLAND
Bermry Bred
FERRVARY 2 00
MDD SHPO

ITANYERITIOR OF (19/8 BTt T NG
$823 -1 T@B898 PB4:

IR oF /8



MARYLAND HISTORICAL TRUST
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Property Name: Mount Vernon Mill No. | Inventory Number: B-0062

Address:  3000-3030 Falls Road, Baltimore (Woodberry)

Owner: Lifelike Products, 1600 Union Avenue, Baltimore, MD

Tax Parcel Number: Sect. 12, Block 3500, lot 1 &3 Tax Map Number: _ 13

Project: Central Light Rail Double Track-North Line Agency:_Mass Transit Administration
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Documentation on the property/district is presented in: (provide name of Report) Cultural Resources Investigations for the Proposed
Construction of Double Track for the North Half of Central Light Rail, City of Baltimore and Baltimore County, Maryland (John Milner
Associates 1999).

Description of Property and Eligibility Determination: (Use continuation sheet if necessary and attach map and photo)

The brick Mount Vernon Mill no. 1 (1873, 1880s), was well surveyed in 1980, however the twentieth-century reinforced concrete
warehouse/mill associated with the synthetic textile manufacturing to which Mount Vernon converted, was not included as a secondary
resource on the MIHP form.. The structure was built along the steep embankment of the Jones Falls, between the river and the former
Northern Central Railway tracks, now the Central Light Rail alignment. The falls side is four stories, and the building is supported on
reinforced concrete posts extending into the middle of the river. The railroad side is one to two stories with a flat roof. The only notable
features of the building's exterior are the southeast corner tower capped with a pyramidal hip roof, and the cantilevered concrete loading
dock and frame canopy that runs the length of the western elevation. The former Mount Vernon Mills sign has been grafittied. The building
appears Lo be vacant at this time. Access was limited due to its location on the active rail corridor and the falls.

The Mt. Vernon Mill no. 1 is one of a complex of nineteenth century textile mills in the Jones Falls Valley. This mill, which manufactured
cotton duck and later converted to synthetics, is representative of the thriving mill industry of the nineteenth century Jones Falls Valley and
its transition in the twentieth century. It is recommended as eligible under Criteria A and C. Mt. Vernon Mill would also contribute to an
MPD of mills in the Jones Falls Valley.
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Inventory No. B-0062

PRESERVATION VISION 2000; THE MARYLAND PLAN
STATEWIDE HISTORIC CONTEXTS

L Geographic Region:

[C] Eastern Shore (all Eastern Shore counties, and Cecil)

[] Western Shore (Anne Arundel, Calvert, Charles, Prince George's and St. Mary's)

X Piedmont (Baltimore City, Baltimore, Carroll, Frederick, Harford, Howard, Montgomery)
[] Western Maryland (Allegany, Garrett and Washington)

hl II.  Chronological/Developmental Periods:

[] Rural Agrarian Intensification A.D. 1680-1815
X Agricultural-Industrial Transition A.D. 1815-1870
Xl Industrial/Urban Dominance A.D. 1870-1930
[ ] Modern Period A.D. 1930-Present

[C] Unknown Period ([ _Jprehistoric; [ Jhistoric)

III. Historic Period Themes:

[] Agriculture

X Architecture, Landscape Architecture, and Community Planning
- X Economic (Commercial and Industrial)

| Government/Law

[] Military

[] Religion

[] Social/Educational/Cultural

(] Transportation

IV. Resource Type:

Category: Building

Historic Environment: Village/Urban

Historic Function(s) and Use(s): Industry/Processing/Extraction: manufacturing facility; mill

Known Design Source: none
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B-62
MOUNT VERNON MILL #1 1873/1881

Baltimore
Private

Mount Vernon Mill #1 is significant both architecturally
and as part of the network of textile mills built by Horatio
Gambrill, David Carroll and William Hooper. This network es-
tablished the Jones Falls Valley as the world's largest pro-
ducer of cotton duck by the end of the 19th century. This
distinctive red brick structure with its gable roof, square
tower, distinctive north-east facade and long rows of windows
was built in 1873 and expanded in 1881 on the site of the ear-
lier Laurel Mill (c. 1945). Mount Vernon #1, with its sister
mill #3, is representative of the '"second phase" of textile
mill construction in the Valley, during which mills were con-
structed in brick and on a larger scale than the earlier stone
mills such as Park, Woodberry and Washington Mills.
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2 DESCRIPTION G-tz

CONDITION CHECK ONE CHECK ONE
—EXCELLENT __DETERIORATED —_UNALTERED XQRIGINAL SITE
£.Goop __RUINS Y ALTERED _MOVED  DATE
__FAIR __UNEXPOSED

DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The earliest part of Mt. Vernon Mill #1 was built in 1873.
The main building is a three-story brick building (with stone basement)
and a center tower on either end. The original building, the wider
southern section built in 1873, has a gable roof with prominent eaves.
On the northeast side there is one gabled side entrance, which juts
out slightly from the rest of the building. This building had only
one tower, which is still standing but without its original mansard
roof and large statue. A windowed monitor running not quite the length
of the section has been removed. The addition of identical design, but
approximately 30 ft. narrower and with a slightly less gabled roof, was
built in 1881 and includes the second tower. In 1874 the basement of
the original building contained the cloth office and the engine room,
which housed a steam engine with a fly wheel which rose above the
first floor and was covered with sheet metal. The first floor contained
the belt-driven carding, drawing, slubbing and speeding machines.
Weaving, beaming and warping were done on the second floor, while
spinning, spooling and twisting machines were located on the third floor.
The building at this time was warmed by steam and lit by gasoline lamps.

On the southwest side of the main building is a four-story, *
3 ft. x 3 ft bay, pitched-roof addition with projecting beaux arts
arched lintels. Also on this side is the boiler house. Originally
two "boilers bricked arched" were housed within one long and one square
building with sloping roofs surrounding the 90 ft. smoke stack. The
present boiler house is a laterstructure with a flat roof and a small
skylight.

Adjacent to the main building, next to the boiler house and
connected to the main building by a bridge is a two-story picker house,
built in 1873. This structure has a high, pitched roof, a chimney on
the northwest side and 30 to 32 inch walls. The two ceilings in this
building are "constructed by a series of cemented brick arches, sup-
ported by iron girders resting on metal columns, made level at the top
and thickly covered with sand, with brick floor over." The framework
of the roof is all iron and covered with slate. There was originally
an elevator between the first and second floors, gas lights set in the
walls, and outside lights on metal platforms. The doors were iron
covered and all windows had solid iron shutters. Heavy steel I-beams
bave been installed on top of the floor on the second level, probably
to support machinery suspended from the ceiling below. A second,
smaller 1879 addition to the picker house joins it on the north side.
It is of similar construction, windowless with heavy corbelling under
the eaves, pilasters and an exterior central door for the delivery of
cotton bales.

The floors in the main building were described in 1874 as -
"one inch with tongued ceiling, on 12-ing joists resting on l4-inch

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY



Kl SIGNIFICANCE
~ERIOD AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE -- CHECK AND JUSTIFY BELOW

—PREHISTORIC —ARCHEULOGY-PREHISTORIC __COMMUNITY PLANNING — LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE —_RELIGION
—1400-1499 —ARCHEOLOGY-HISTORIC —.CONSERVATION — LAW —SCIENCE
—1500-1599 —AGRICULTURE —_ECONOMICS _ LITERATURE __SCULPTURE
—1600-1699 X_ARCHITECTUHE — EDUCATION —MILITARY —SOCIAL/HUMANITARIAN
—1700-1799 _ART __ENGINEERING —MUSIC __THEATER
£.1800-1899 _COMMERCE __EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT  __PHILOSOPHY __TRANSPORTATION
—1900- —COMMUNICATIONS XINDUSTRY __POLITICS/GOVERNMENT __OTHER (SPECIFY)

—INVENTION
SPECIFIC DATES 1873, 1879 BUILDER/ARGHITECT

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Mt. Vernon Mill #1 is significant as part of the network of
textile mills built by Horatio Gambrill, David Carroll and William
Hooper which established Baltimore's Hampden-Woodberry area as the
world's largest producer of cotton duck by the end of the 19th
century. Located on the banks of the Jones Falls, this distinctive
three-story brick structure with its double-gable roof, square tower,
and rows of elaborate windows, was built on the site of the 1845
Laurel Mill. Today it houses the operations of the Life-Like Pro-
ducts Company, 6 manufacturers of toys and Christmas decorations.
Mount Vernon #1 is representative of the shift from stone to brick
construction on a larger and more modern scale which characterized

"the '"'second phase'" of textile mill construction in the Jones Falls
Valley during the 1870s and 80s.

Historical Significance:

The Baltimore textile industry had its origins in the rush of
American entrepeneurs to fill a void created by the War of 1812 and
the national embargo of British goods which preceded it. American
demand for yarn and cloth which had formerly been supplied by British
imports went begging for lack of supplies, and merchants sought to
create new manufacturing plants with the capital formerly tied up in
that trade. Cities and towns in New England and along the Atlantic
seaboard saw the appearance of rew cotton mills in such numbers that
by 1810 there were 87 such mills operating in the U.S. Eleven of these
were in or near Baltimore where the various streams emptying into the
Chesapeake Bay offered the advantages of cheap water power close to
equally inexpensive water transport. These early factories were largely
spinning mills which converted the raw cotton into yarn. Weaving of
fabrics remained mainly a '"'cottage craft".

The demand for yarn in Baltimore came largely from the needs of
the shipping industry for sailcloth or duck. All American port cities
had long relied on linen duck, mostly supplied by Holland. After the
Revolutionary War there was a surge of interest in sailcloth manufac-
ture in the ports. In about 1809 Seth Bemis of Watertown, Massachu-
setts began making duck from machine-spun cotton, a thread capable of
matching the strength of linen. The new material was slow in being ac-

cepted at first but the Embargo and later the War of 1812 made imported

CONTINUE ON SEPARATE SHEET IF NECESSARY ( )
cont.
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Mt. Vernon Mill #1
7. Description
page 2

girders, and covered above by 2% inch double floor, tongued."
The floors are supported by two rows of cast-iron columns. The
basement floor is raised 2 feet with space underneath for air
pumps. There were once two iron-cased openings for driving
belts between the first and second floors,"raised 3% inches for
flooding."

The manager's office on the second floor was furnished
by 1912 with "vacuum, steam, and Edison's recording steam
gauge, back pressure and water gauges' to indicate the state
of the running powers and water pressure in the fire pumps.

The most distinctive features of the present building are
the double pitched south/east facade, and the one over one
sash windows with elaborate pendant moldings and segmental
arch crowned by a keystone which appear on some sections of
the building.

(A1l quotes taken from 1912 Mutual Fire Insurance Company map)

B-6z
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Mt. Vernon Mill #1
8) Historical Significance
Page 2

duck scarce. In 1812-13 one Baltimore firm sold $20,000 worth of
Bemis cotton duck and another firm sold $21,000 worth in 1815.

The first of Baltimore's businessmen to capitalize on these de-
velopments were David Carroll and Horatio Gambrill. In 1832 Carroll
and Gambrill bought the mill of the Washington Manufacturing Company
at Mt. Washinton. Begun in 1809, this mill, one of the earliest in
the country, most likely produced cotton warp yarn for home consump-
tion before its purchase. By 1839 the advantages of an integrated
spinning and weaving mill using the newly perfected power looms had
become apparent. Gambrill and Carroll with other local financial
support converted the Whitehall flour mill (on the site of the pre-
sent Clipper Mill) to just such an operation with five power looms.

In 1842 they converted another flour mill at Woodberry into a spinning
mill, and in 1847 added the Laurel Mill on the site of the present Mt.
Vernon Mill #1. Carroll and Gambrill parted company in that year and

the former started the Mt. Varnon Manufacturing Company in partnership
with William Kennedy and others. In 1853 this company added a second

mill up the hillside from the Laurel Mill, expanding the firm's capa-

city to 10,000 spindles.

On June 20, 1873 Mt. Vernon #1 burned to the ground, involving a
loss of $250,000. By the following September a new and much larger
structure was erected on the same site. In 1881 a large addition and
a packing house were added to the northern end of the factory. About
this time Thomas Scharf in his history of Baltimore noted that these two
Mt. Vernon Manufacturing Company mills provided '"'cotton duck and felt-
ing, the latter being used in making paper,'" and gave employment '"to a
sufficient number of operatives to make up a village of 800 inhabitants."
The total number of workers employed in the company's mills at this
time, he stated, was about 1600.

Several additions were made to the Mt. Vernon complex between 1874
and 1904, including an office building, storage houses, and new wings
to the main structures. By the late 19th century the Mt. Vernon Manu-
facturing Company and the William Hooper Company (which owned Druid,
Park, Woodberry, Hooperwood and Washington Mill) held a monopoly on
the production of cotton duck. Baltimore became the world's leading
provider of this type of textile. As sailing ships disappeared from
the scene, other uses were found for the sturdy cloth. During both
World Wars the Company did a booming business in supplying cloth for
uniforms, knapsacks, tents and parachutes. The Mount Vernon Company con-
continued to expand, and throughout the 20th century it has added mill
after mill, mostly in more southern states such as North and South Caro-
lina. When these mills proved more profitable, operations in Baltimore
tapered off. Textile production at the Mount Vernon complex on Falls
Road ceased in 1973, and the Company sold the buildings to Reekland-Milis,
which—operates—a-modern textile-plant farther up-the Valley-as well @s
faetortes around the-world: Life - L.ke Prodiucts imantdoctkusers «€
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Mt. Vernon Mill #1
8) Historical Significance
Page 3

The Mount Vernon complex was developed along the lines of the
so-called '"Rhode Island System'" which employed entire families as
its labor force. In the long run this system was more paternalistic
than the boarding-house system which employed mostly young single
women, because it provided company housing and other social welfare
arrangements to keep workers contented. During the 1840s and 50s
the Mt. Vernon Company built several dozen stone duplex residential
units on the hillsides around the mill. When expansion took place
in 1873 and 1881, several blocks of brick rowhouses provided more
housing. The Company still owned several of these houses as late as
1973. A company store and company-sponsored church added to the com-
munity's sense of dependence on the mills. This is also reflected in
the pages of the company magazine, "The Mt.Vernon-Woodberry News,"
in which village and company activities appear closely intertwined.
Throughout the 19th and 20th centuries families from rural areas came
to Hampden-Woodberry to Hgageiﬁn{@e mills, and their descendants still
comprise the core of these,working-class neighborhoods, even though
the textile companies themselves have all but ceased operations there.

Although the textile industry is largely gone from the Jones Falls
Valley, the many beautiful and sturdy stone and brick buildings built
to house their operations remain. The Hampden-Woodberry area is one
of the few in this country where a large 19th century industrial vil-
lage remains virtually intact. The Mt. Vernon Company buildings, to-
gether with the Stone Hill housing complex, company store and Metho-
dist church nearby, is one of the highlights of th area, and one of the
best preserved 19th century mill complexes in the Mid-Atlantic States.
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3. PHOENIX (MERCHANT'S) SHOT TOWER (continued)

floors and terminating on the second floor near the adjoining building.
Next dumped into a rewolving drum heated by steam, the shot was thoroughly
dried. Tt was then put into a revolving cask along with black lead, and
a high polish was produced.

In the building adjoining the tower the shot was rolled down an incline
consisting of five plates of French plate glass. The perfect shot ran
freely down this incline, jumping the spaces between the plates, while

the imperfect shot slid slowly and fell between the plates, being collected
for remelting in a trough at the bottom. The angle of this incline could
be changed so that only certain sizes of shot would reach the bottom. The
perfect shot was then put through sieves of different sizes. In the early
days, these sieves, made of drawn sheepskin, were set in a mahogany rocking
chest which shoock the smaller shot to the bottam; later, a rack of revolving
perforated cone-shaped cylinders was used, the shot which had not fallen
through the holes of one cylinder passing thus on to the next cylinder.
The shot was then run again down an incline, this time made up of mahogany
plates, and the resulting high grade shot weighed and sewn into bags for
shipment. The Shot Tower's capacity was 100,000 bags of 25 lbs in season,
which could be raised to 500,000 bags annually if necessary. No shot was
manufactured after 1892. In 1847 the Merchant's Shot Company bought out

Phoenix.
This structure is a registered National Historic Landmark.

4. MOUNT VERNON MILLS NO. 1 & 7 3 1873, 1879, 1881 [3-62
Falls Road at foot of Chestnut St., N. of Cedar Avenue 3
Jones Falls Valley £ &

This southernmost mill complex along the Falls was the last of the group to
make the transition in 1973 from the manufacture of cloth to synthetic
fabrics. The No. 1 Mill, directly facing Falls Road, is a three-story brick
building, on stone foundation with towers at either end, which has been
rendered somewhat nondescript by the removal of all its tower window frames
and the bricking in of these openings, except for the several that survive
near the entrance. Mill No. 2, of less architectural distinction, is
located to the east, up Chestnut Street.

The surrounding ancillary buildings include a small Mansard-roofed office
building between the mills, south of which once was located the corporation
store, further south, at the bend of Falls Road, is the cotton house where
the bales were stored, characterized by small, iron-shuttered windows (so
designed to shut off the air supply in the event of fire). Just southwest
of Mill No. 1, across the road from the cotton house, is a striking pair of
brick gable-roofed cotton or picker houses (where bales were broken, and
impurities removed before the compressed cotton, in the form of laps, was
transferred to the carding machines) bearing massive datestones 1873 and
;879. To the east of these, on the south face of the mill's stairtower,

is a large name and date tablet.
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MOUNT VERNON MILIS NO. 1 & 2 (continued)

In 1874, the mill complex was described in a fire insurance report as
follows. The basement of the original building contained the cloth office
and the engine room, which housed a steam engine with fly wheel rising
gbove the first floor. The first floor contained the belt driven carding,
drawing, slubbing (the process of slightly twisting cotton fibers onto
bobbins for weaving) and speeding machines. Weaving, beaming (placing warp
spools onto large rollers that were placed in a loom) and warping were done
on the second floor, while spinning, spooling and twisting machines were
located on the third floor. The building was warmed by steam and 1lit by
gasoline lamps.

Perhaps the most outstanding element of the complex today, is the enclave
of stone duplex corporation houses on the bank above, known as "Stone Hill",
built between c. 1845 (the date of the first mill on the site) and 1877.
These houses, constructed of granite from the Lake Roland section of the
valley, exhibit Greek Revival characteristics (in massing, use of attic
windows, etc.). In plan, room follows room with divided one story gable
roofed rear wings serving as kitchens to each pair of houses. Also note-
worthy is the massive stone Superintendent's House, which overlooks Mill
No. 1. A later grouping of tenerents, known as Brick Hill, overlooks

Mill No. 2.
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MOUNT VERNON MITL NO 1

Left: view of mill in
c. 1912 fire insurance
map

Below: northeast corner
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